INTRODUCTION 

When David Butler left Burien Toyota and joined the 

competition, Larson Toyota, he took with him a customer list, 

contacting everybody on the list. In just 18 months, Butler and 

Larson Toyota sold 207 cars to Burien Toyota customers. 

Unsurprisingly, the jury found that Butler and Larson Toyota 

misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret. Yet the jury found no 

damages. The only thing that explains this verdict is the erroneous 

jury instructions on the burden of proof and "damages." 

This Court recently held (in Petters v. Williamson, infra) that 

to obtain restitution for unjust enrichment, a plaintiff who has 

established a trade secret misappropriation must establish only the 

defendant's resulting sales. The burden then shifts to the defendant 

to prove that particular sales were not attributable to the 

misappropriation or that reductions are necessary to net profits. 

But the trial court instructed the jury that Burien Toyota had to 

prove "damages from sales." Requiring Burien Toyota to prove 

damages - a net sum - placed on it the defendant's burden of 

carving out sales and reductions to prove net profits. This Court 

therefore should presume prejudice, reverse and remand for a new 

trial on damages, and award Burien Toyota appellate fees. 
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in giving Instruction 8. which (read 

together with Instruction 18) misplaced the burden of proof onto 

plaintiff Burien Toyota to prove "damages from sales" attributable to 

defendants' trade secret misappropriation. CP 555.1 

2. The trial court erred in entering judgment. CP 955. 

ISSUE RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

This Court has unequivocally held that where, as here, the 

plaintiff establishes a trade-secret misappropriation. the plaintiff must 

establish only resulting sales. after which the burden shifts to the 

defendant to prove sales not attributable to use of the trade secret. 

or to net profits. Petters v. Williamson. infra. Did the trial court err 

(1) in instructing the jury that plaintiff Burien Toyota had to prove 

"damages from sales" attributable to the trade secret; and (2) in 

defining damages to include (a) "the amount of money that will 

reasonably and fairly compensate Burien Toyota for any injury . . . 

proximately caused by Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota [including] 

restitution for unjust enrichment"; and (b) "defendants' gain as unjust 

enrichment"? CP 555, 565. 

1 The jury instructions and special verdict form are attached as App. A. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. When Butler began working for Burien Toyota, it provided 
Butler with potential customers through its outside 
marketing firm, Sobel. 

Respondent David Butler began working for Appellant Burien 

Toyota in February 2003, after a 32-year career at Nordstrom. CP 

57, 150. Butler was a very successful shoe salesman, easily 

transitioning into selling cars in his retirement. CP 57-58, 616. He 

was by all accounts a top salesperson. CP 616. 

When Butler first started at Burien Toyota, management 

provided him with "'orphan' owner customers," customers who had 

purchased cars from Burien Toyota, but did not have a salesperson 

following up with them. CP 573. Early on, this supplemented the 

few customers to whom Butler initially sold cars. Id. 

Burien Toyota contracts with Sobel & Associates to manage 

its customer databases and provide direct-marketing materials, such 

as newsletters and address labels. CP 46,571,576-77,581. Burien 

Toyota provides customer lists directly to Sobel for each Burien 

Toyota salesperson. CP 571,576,581. Burien Toyota does not give 

customer lists directly to salespeople, and salespeople do not submit 

customer information directly to Sobel. Id. 

3 



Butler asked to go on the Sobel program earlier than most 

salespeople, seeking the opportunity to be more competitive. CP 

573. Burien Toyota provided customer information directly to Sobel 

and Sobel produced direct marketing materials for Butler. CP 571, 

576-77, 581 . This became known as "the Sobel list." Id. 

B. Butler claimed that he brought a Nordstrom list with him 
to Burien Toyota, but no one at Burien Toyota saw that 
list, and it was never downloaded into their database. 

Butler claimed that he directly provided Sobel with a customer 

list that he took from Nordstrom. CP 45, 62-63. Sobel's Kathy 

Orlando also stated that Butler "personally" gave her a customer list, 

claiming that she gave it to an unnamed Sobel employee for "data 

entry." CP 47. This claim was hotly contested. CP 571, 576, 577. 

Sharon Daniels, Burien Toyota's customer-service manager, 

worked directly with Butler, but never saw nor heard of the supposed 

Nordstrom list. CP 576. Daniels plainly stated that there was no 

indication that any Nordstrom list was ever put into Burien Toyota's 

database. Id. 

Ted Klarich, Burien Toyota's general sales manager, heard 

about the Nordstrom list, but never saw it. CP 570. Klarich would 

have known about the list if it existed. CP 571 . It is against Burien 
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Toyota's policy to place outside customer information into its 

database, and the Nordstrom list, if any, was not in the database. Id. 

Patrick Dillon, Burien Toyota's general manager, also never 

saw the alleged Nordstrom list. CP 581. He too stated that it is 

against policy to use others' lists. CP 582. No Nordstrom list was 

loaded into Burien Toyota's database. Id. Dillon would not have 

allowed Butler to use a customer list he took from Nordstrom. Id. 

C. Despite acknowledging that all Burien Toyota customer 
information was confidential and proprietary, Butler took 
the Sobel list when he left Burien Toyota, giving it to his 
new employer, competitor Larson Toyota. 

Burien Toyota salespeople know that customer information is 

confidential and proprietary and that it remains so when Burien 

Toyota sends it to Sobel. CP 571. Butler, like all Burien Toyota 

employees, was advised when his employment began, and 

repeatedly reminded throughout his tenure, that Burien Toyota 

customer information is confidential. CP 573, 578, 581-82, 587-88. 

Butler signed many documents agreeing to and acknowledging 

these privacy policies. CP 582,591,592,594-95. 

Yet Butler openly admits that when he left Burien Toyota in 

March 2011, he took the "Sobel list" to Burien Toyota's competition, 

Larson Toyota. CP 72, 619, 625-27. When Butler started working 

for Larson Toyota, he told the management team, Craig Noyes, Tom 
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Todak and Rob Larson, that he had the Sobel list on computer disk, 

explaining that it was a list of customers he had sold to while at 

Burien Toyota. CP 627-28. Although Butler did not specifically recall 

how they responded, management never instructed Butler not to put 

the Sobel list into Larson Toyota's database. CP 628. Butler 

believes that Larson Toyota management knew that he intended to 

download the list. CP 629. 

Butler enlisted someone in Larson Toyota's IT department to 

help him download the Sobel list into Larsen Toyota's database. CP 

625-26. Butler acknowledged that there were "at least a thousand . 

. . 500" Burien Toyota customers on the Sobel list. CP 652. He 

admitted calling Burien Toyota customers and emailing "everybody" 

on the Sobel list while at Larson Toyota. CP 650,652. 

When asked, Butler returned the Sobel list to Burien Toyota, 

but kept a hardcopy of the list and a disk containing the list. CP 648-

50. Butler never informed Burien Toyota that he had duplicates of 

the same list he was supposedly returning. Id. He acknowledged 

telling Burien Toyota that he had not shown or given the Sobel list to 

anyone, but "ha[d] no idea" why he would have said that. CP 648. 
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D. Burien Toyota instructed Butler to immediately stop 
using the Sobel list, and sued for trade-secret 
misappropriation and related torts. 

Shortly after Butler left Burien Toyota in March 2011, Burien 

Toyota began receiving many complaints from customers stating that 

Butler was contacting them from Larson Toyota. CP 72,573. These 

customers did not understand why Butler was contacting them from 

a different dealership, as they had an ongoing relationship with 

Burien Toyota. 'd. They were unhappy and wanted it stopped. 'd. 

Burien Toyota was forced to send a cease and desist letter on April 

4,2011. CP 65-66,574. 

E. Burien Toyota established that in just 18 months after 
Butler moved to the competition, he and Larson Toyota 
sold not less than 207 cars to Burien Toyota customers. 

Per court order, Larson Toyota produced three separate lists 

of car sales in response to Burien Toyota's discovery requests. CP 

343, 682, 849. These lists include Butler's sales, as well as sales 

from other Larson Toyota employees, from March 2011 (when Butler 

left Burien Toyota) to November 2012, including the sales prices for 

those cars. 'd.; Exs 16,22,23. Burien Toyota cross-checked these 

lists against its customer database, finding 207 sales to Burien 

Toyota customers. CP 343, 584, 682, 849. This works out to over 

10 cars per month, or 1 car every two-to-three days. 'd. 
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F. Over both sides' objections, the trial court gave 
Instructions 8 and 18, telling the jury that Burien Toyota 
had to prove "damages from sales," not just resulting 
sales, as this Court has required. 

This Court has previously held that a plaintiff seeking 

restitutio nary unjust enrichment damages caused by a trade-secret 

misappropriation has the burden of establishing the defendant's 

resulting sales. Petters v. Williamson & Assocs., Inc., 151 Wn. 

App. 154, 164-65, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009), rev. denied, 168 Wn.2d 

1007 (2010). The burden then shifts to the defendant to prove any 

sales not attributable to the misappropriation, or reductions to 

determine net profits. Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 164-65. 

The trial court gave Jury Instruction 8, requiring Burien Toyota 

to prove not just resulting sales, but "damages from sales": 

TRADE SECRETS - BURDEN OF PROOF 

On the claim of misappropriated trade secrets, Burien Toyota 
has the burden of proving each of the following propositions: 

(1) That Burien Toyota had a trade secret; 

(2) That Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyota 
misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret; and 

(3)(a) That Mr. Butler and/or Larson Toyotas' [sic] 
misappropriation was a proximate cause of damages to 
Burien Toyota (Actual Damages); 

and/or 

(3)(b) That, is a result of the misappropriation, Mr. 
Butler and/or Larson Toyota received money or benefits that 
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in justice and fairness belong to Burien Toyota (Unjust 
Enrichment). Under (3)(b) (Unjust Enrichment), plaintiff has 
the initial burden of proving damages from sales attributable 
to the use of a trade secret. The burden then shifts to Mr. 
Butler and/or Larson Toyota to establish any portion of the 
sales not attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to 
be deducted in determining net profits. 

If you find from your consideration of all the evidence 
that proposition (1), (2) and either (3)(a) or (3)(b) have been 
proved, then your verdict should be for Burien Toyota. On the 
other hand, if you find that propositions (1) nor (2) nor 
alternatives (3)(a) or (3)(b) have not been proved, your verdict 
should be for Mr. Butler and Larson Toyota. 

CP 555 (emphasis added). Burien Toyota specifically objected to 

Instruction 8 on the ground that it required Burien Toyota to prove 

not just "sales," but "damages from sales." 1/31 RP 7-8. Burien 

Toyota argued that in stating "damages from sales," Instruction 8 

impermissibly shifted the burden back to the plaintiff. Id. 

Burien Toyota also objected to Instruction 18, defining the 

measure of trade-secret misappropriation damages. 1/31 RP 10-11. 

Burien Toyota proposed alternate instructions on the measure of 

damages and the burden of proof, and objected to the trial court's 

refusal to give its proposed instructions. Id. at 12; CP 894, 901. 

Interestingly, Larson Toyota also objected to Jury Instructions 

8 and 18. 1/31 RP 14, 15. On No. 8, Larson Toyota stated, "we do 
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think that the new Number 8(2) does not accurately state the law, and 

so we except on that basis." 1/31 RP 14. On No. 18, Larson Toyota 

stated: "The defense also excepts to giving of Instruction Number 

18. It's potentially confusing with the additional language with the 

parts from the WPI." 1 /31 RP 15. 

G. The jury found that Butler and Larson Toyota had 
misappropriated Burien Toyota's trade secret, but found 
that Burien Toyota suffered no damages. 

By special verdict, the jury found that the Sobel list Butler took 

from Burien Toyota constituted a trade secret. CP 906. The jury also 

found that both Butler and Larson Toyota misappropriated that trade 

secret. CP 907. Yet the jury found that the misappropriation did not 

financially harm Burien Toyota. Id. 

Burien Toyota timely appealed. CP 970. Larson Toyota filed 

a "conditional" cross appeal. CP 1016-17. 

2 By "new Number 8" Larson Toyota meant that this version of No. 8 -
drafted overnight by the trial judge - had been provided to the parties for 
the first time that morning. 1/31 RP 2. Larson stated: "we would except 
for some of the reasons - for some of the reasons previously discussed" 
(1/31 RP 14), which appears to refer back to Burien Toyota's objections; 
this could also refer back to the previous day's discussions, but this was 
a new instruction, and such a vague reference would make no sense. 
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ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review. 

This Court reviews jury instructions de novo for errors of law. 

Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 851 , 

860,281 P.3d 289 (2012) (citing Joyce v. Dep'tofCorr., 155 Wn.2d 

306, 323, 119 P .3d 825 (2006)); City of Bellevue v. Raum, 171 Wn. 

App. 124, 142, 286 P.3d 695 (2012), rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d 1024 

(2013). Jury instructions must allow counsel to argue his theory of 

the case, must not be misleading, and "'when read as a whole [must] 

properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law.'" Anfinson, 174 

Wn.2d at 860 (quoting Bodin v. City of Stanwood, 130 Wn.2d 726, 

732,927 P.2d 240 (1996)); Raum, 171 Wn.2d at 142. "If any of these 

elements are absent, the instruction is erroneous." Anfinson, 174 

Wn.2d at 860 (citing Joyce, 155 Wn.2d at 323-25). 

This Court will reverse where an erroneous jury instruction 

prejudices a party. Anfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860; Raum, 171 Wn.2d 

at 142. Prejudice must be demonstrated if an instruction is "merely 

misleading." Anfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860. But this Court will 

presume prejudice when the instruction contains a clear 

misstatement of law. Anfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860 (citing Keller v. 

City of Spokane, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249-50, 44 P.3d 845 (2002)) . 
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B. The trial court erroneously instructed the jury that 
plaintiff Burien Toyota had to prove not only Butler's and 
Larson Toyota's sales, but also damages from sales. 

The trial court instructed the jury that "plaintiff has the initial 

burden of proving damages from sales attributable to the use of a 

trade secret," after which the burden shifts to the defendant to prove 

"any portion of the sales not attributable to the trade secret and any 

expenses to be deducted in determining net profits." CP 555 

(emphasis added). But this Court plainly held that a plaintiff who has 

established a trade-secret misappropriation must prove only "the 

defendant's sales," not "damages from sales." Compare Petters, 

151 Wn. App. at 164-65 with CP 555. Instruction 8 misstates the 

applicable law, and when read in conjunction with damages 

Instruction 18, misplaces the burden onto Burien Toyota. This Court 

should reverse and remand for a new trial on damages. 

1. This Court has held that once the plaintiff proves the 
defendant's sales attributable to the misappropriation, 
the burden then shifts to the defendant to prove sales 
not attributable to the misappropriation, or reductions 
to determine net profits. 

A plaintiff seeking relief under the Uniform Trade Secrets Act 

("UTSA") must initially prove: (1) that there is a trade secret; i.e., a 

legally protectable secret; and (2) that the secret has been 

misappropriated. Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 164. A plaintiff may 
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recover damages "for the actual loss caused by misappropriation," 

and "for the unjust enrichment caused by misappropriation that is not 

taken into account in computing damages for actual loss." RCW 

19.108.030(1 ). 

While these principles are well established, "[t]he burden of 

proving the measure of damages in cases addressing 

misappropriation of trade secrets is not a subject that has received 

significant attention from Washington's appellate courts." Pette,s, 

151 Wn. App. at 164-65. Indeed, in Pette,s, this Court addressed 

for the first time in Washington who has "the burden of proving the 

proper amount of restitutionary unjust enrichment damages" for a 

trade-secret misappropriation. 151 Wn. App. at 164-65. Our 

appellate courts have not revisited the issue since. 

In Pette,s, the Court adopted the RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF 

UNFAIR COMPETITION, under which the plaintiff has the burden to 

prove "the defendant's sales," after which the defendant has the 

burden to prove any portion of its sales not attributable to the 

misappropriation, or any reductions to determine net profits: 

The traditional form of restitutionary relief in an action for the 
appropriation of a trade secret is an accounting of the 
defendant's profits on sales attributable to the use of the trade 
secret. ... The plaintiff has the burden of establishing the 
defendant's sales; the defendant has the burden of 
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establishing any portion of the sales not attributable to the 
trade secret and any expenses to be deducted in determining 
net profits. 

Id. at 165 (quoting RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF UNFAIR COMPETITION, § 

45 cmt. f. at 516-17 (1995)). This Court found this "a logical and 

unremarkable formulation of the rule" that properly places the burden 

on the defendant, who has "possession of the relevant information," 

and is "widely adopted" in other jurisdictions: 

This is a logical and unremarkable formulation of the rule. It 
places on the party in possession of the relevant 
information-the defendant-the burden of demonstrating 
which portion, if any, of the revenue obtained through the 
transfer of a trade secret was not, in fact, attributable to the 
transfer. That is, it requires the defendant to explain why any 
particular portion of the money that it received as a result of 
the misappropriating transaction should not be considered an 
"actual loss" suffered by the plaintiff under RCW 
19.108.030(1). The rule has been widely adopted in 
jurisdictions applying the model act. 

Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 165 (citing Vt. Microsystems, Inc. v. 

Autodesk, Inc., 138 F.3d 449, 450 (2nd Cir. 1998)). 

Thus, under Petters, Burien Toyota had the burden to prove 

that the Sobel list was a trade secret, that Butler and/or Larson 

Toyota misappropriated the Sobel list, and that Butler and/or 

LarsonlToyota made sales attributable to their misappropriation. 

Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 164-65. The burden then should have 

shifted to Butler and Larson Toyota to prove what portion of their 
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sales, if any, were not attributable to the Sobel list, and any other 

reductions to determine net profits. 151 Wn. App. at 164-65. 

2. Read together, Instructions 8 and 18 flatly misstate the 
applicable law. 

Read as a whole, the instructions misstate the applicable law. 

Anfinson, 174 Wn.2d at 860; Raum, 171 Wn.2d at 142. Over both 

parties' objections, the trial court instructed the jury that to obtain 

restitution for unjust enrichment, Burien Toyota "has the initial burden 

of proving damages from sales attributable to the use of a trade 

secret." CP 555 (emphasis added). Burien Toyota objected 

precisely to the phrase "damages from sales," arguing that plaintiff 

must prove only resultant "sales," not "damages from sales." 1/31 

RP 7-8,10-11 . 

Instruction 18 defines "damages" as "the amount of money 

that will reasonably and fairly compensate Burien Toyota for any 

injury you find was proximately caused by Mr. Butler and/or Larson 

Toyota." CP 565. The instruction states that Burien Toyota may 

recover "restitution for unjust enrichment," defined as "defendants' 

gain." Id. Burien Toyota objected to Instruction 18 on the same basis 

as its objection to Instruction 8: it shifts the burden back to Burien 

Toyota to prove damages. 1/31 RP 7-8,10-11. 
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Reading together the damages definitions from Instruction 18 

(underlined below) and the burden-shift language in Instruction 8, 

they placed two burdens on Burien Toyota with respect to the 

measure of unjust enrichment "damages," or restitution: 

• [P]laintiff has the initial burden of proving damages [- i.e., the 
amount of money that will reasonably and fairly compensate 
Burien Toyota - ] from sales attributable to the use of a trade 
secret. 

• [P]laintiff has the initial burden of proving damages [ - i.e., 
defendants' gain - ] from sales attributable to the use of a 
trade secret. 

CP 555, 565. This is not the law. Pette,s plainly holds that plaintiffs 

initial burden is to prove resulting sales, not reasonable and fair

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