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

remanded on other grounds, 145 Wn.2d 1015, 37 P.3d 289, and opinion 

modified on other grounds on reconsideration, 43 P.3d 526 (Wn. App. 

2002). In any event, Instruction No. 8 is in fact in harmony with the 

language cited by the court in Petters. 

Petters is a trade secrets case involving seafloor drilling 

technology called remote rod-core drilling. The opinion on which Burien 

Toyota relies is the opinion this Court issued the second time the case was 

before it. At issue in the second appeal was the trial court' s ruling that 

dissolved an earlier injunction based on the court's conclusion that remote 

rod-core seafloor drilling no longer constituted a trade secret and the 

court's award of unjust enrichment damages to Petters. 

On appeal, Petters, the design engineer, claimed that the trial court 

applied an incorrect burden of proof to determine the degree to which the 

drill manufacturer's license of the drill technology damaged him. Petters 

argued that once misappropriation was found, the burden is on the 

misappropriating party to prove that any portion of the wrongfully 

obtained revenue is not attributable to the misappropriation. This Court 

held that Petters was correct regarding the burden of proof, but incorrect in 

arguing that the trial court misapplied it. The court agreed with the 

following statement from the Restatement of Unfair Competition: 
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"The traditional form of restitutionary relief in an action for 
the appropriation of a trade secret is an accounting of the 
defendant's profits on sales attributable to the use of the 
trade secrets. . .. The plaintiff has the burden of 
establishing the defendant's sales; the defendant has the 
burden of establishing any portion of the sales not 
attributable to the trade secret and any expenses to be 
deducted in determining net profits." 

Petters, 151 Wn. App. at 165 (quoting RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF UNFAIR 

COMPETITION § 45 cmt. f. at 516-17 (1995)). The Petters court approved 

of the foregoing statement because it placed on the defendant - the party 

who possessed the relevant information - the burden of demonstrating 

which portion, if any, of the revenue obtained through the transfer of a 

trade secret was not, in fact, attributable to the transfer. Petters, 151 Wn. 

App. at 165. 

The instruction on the burden of proof that the trial court drafted in 

this case, Instruction No.8, closely tracks the foregoing language. And, 

importantly, the court's instruction also closely tracks the language of 

WPI351.01. The trial court did not approve of either party's instruction 

on the burden of proof on Burien Toyota's UTSA claim. Accordingly, the 

trial court drafted its own instruction on this matter. The court took pains 

to draft an appropriate instruction and relied on WPI 351.01 and the 

comments thereto in drafting its instruction. See RP Jan. 31, 2013 at 4-7. 
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WPI 351.01 provides that on a claim of misappropriation, the 

plaintiff has the burden of proving that (1) the plaintiff had a trade secret 

and (2) the defendant misappropriated the plaintiffs trade secret. The 

instruction provides two alternative versions of a third element the 

plaintiff also has the burden of proving, depending on whether the plaintiff 

claims actual damages or unjust enrichment. If the plaintiff claims actual 

damages, the plaintiff has the burden of proving, as the third element, that 

the defendant's misappropriation was a proximate cause of damages to the 

plaintiff. If the plaintiff claims unjust enrichment, the plaintiff has the 

burden of proving, as the third element, that as a result of the 

misappropriation, the defendant received money or benefits that in justice 

and fairness belong to the plaintiff. Where, as here, the plaintiff is 

claiming both actual damages and unjust enrichment, WPI 351.0 I directs 

that the instruction must be modified so that any award for unjust 

enrichment does not duplicate the recovery of actual damages. WPI 

351.01. The comments to WPI 351.01 note the Restatement's burden

shifting approach discussed in Petters. 

Here, the trial court's Instruction No.8 comports with both WPI 

351.01 and the Restatement. See Appendix A. The only variation 

between the court's instruction and WPI 351.01lRestatement version of 

the instruction is that the court's instruction provides that the plaintiff has 
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the initial burden of proving "damages from sales attributable to a trade 

secret," while the WPI 351.01lRestatement instruction states that the 

plaintiff has the initial burden of proving "sales attributable to the use of a 

trade secret." This variation does not, as Burien Toyota argues, shift the 

burden of proof or misstate the law. At most, the variation constitutes a 

fair but inartful wording of the instruction by the trial court in its attempt 

to draft an instruction that encompasses both actual damages and unjust 

enrichment damages. Inartful wording does not render a jury instruction 

erroneous. Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431,442-43,5 P.3d 1265 (2000). 

If a plaintiff in a trade secret misappropriation case can prove sales 

by the defendant attributable to the use of the plaintiff s trade secret, then 

the plaintiff has, by so proving, also proved damages from sales by the 

defendant attributable to the use of the plaintiffs trade secret. The 

"damages" are the "sales" that were made because the defendant 

misappropriated the plaintiffs trade secret and used that trade secret to 

make a sale. Had it not been for the misappropriation, those sales by the 

defendant would have been sales by the plaintiff. Once the plaintiff meets 

its initial burden, then the burden shifts to the defendant to reduce this 

amount of damages the plaintiff has shown by any amount attributable to 

sales the defendant made by means other than by use of the plaintiff s 

trade secret and any expenses the defendant incurred that reduce its net 
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profits. The resulting figure is "the defendant's ill-gotten profits," or the 

defendant's unjust enrichment. WPI 351.01, cmt. 

A plaintiffs burden is the same whether the plaintiff has to prove 

sales attributable to the use of a trade secret or damages from sales 

attributable to the use of a trade secret because a defendant's sales 

attributable to the use of the plaintiff s trade secret by definition 

constitutes damage to the plaintiff. Here, the trial court's insertion of 

"damages from" in its instruction amounts to nothing more than the 

insertion of mere surplusage. A more artful way for the court to have 

altered the Restatement language might have been "damages in the form of 

sales attributable to the use of the trade secret." But inartful language is 

not enough to declare a jury instruction erroneous where, as here, it 

accurately states the law. 

The court's brief discussion in Petters supports the conclusion that 

the trial court's version of the Restatement language is not error. 

Specifically, in approving of the Restatement's burden-shifting approach, 

the court stated that the Restatement "requires the defendant to explain 

why any particular portion of the money that it received as a result of the 

misappropriating transaction should not be considered an 'actual loss' 

suffered by the plaintiff under RCW 19.108.030(1)." Petters, 151 Wn. 

App. at 165 (emphasis in original). Implicit in the requirement that the 
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defendant show what portion of the money it received should not be 

considered an actual loss has to be the requirement that, before this burden 

befalls the defendant, the plaintiff has the burden of showing an actual 

loss, i.e., damages. By its statement, it is apparent that the court in Petters 

viewed the Restatement's burden on the plaintiff to prove "sales 

attributable to the use of the trade secret" as the burden to prove "actual 

loss" - that is, "damages" - attributable to the use of the trade secret. 6 

The Petters court's interpretation of the Restatement provision 

makes sense. In order for the burden to shift to a defendant, the plaintiff 

must first prove some sort of damage or loss. If the plaintiff fails to prove 

any loss, then the case is over at that point. One is hard-pressed to 

conceive of any cause of action that would allow a plaintiff to escape the 

burden of proving damages. The trial court's Instruction No. 8 is a 

correct, although perhaps inartful, statement of the law. There is no error 

6 The out-of-state cases Burien Toyota cites do not compel a contrary 
interpretation of the burden-shifting analysis. For example, the court in Jet Spray 
Cooler, Inc. v. Crampton, 377 Mass. 159, 385 N.E.2d 1349 (1979), stated: 
"Once the plaintiffs demonstrate that the defendants have made profits from sales 
of products incorporating the misappropriated trade secrets, the burden shifts to 
the defendants to demonstrate the portion of their profits which is not attributable 
to the trade secrets." Jet Spray Cooler, 377 Mass. at 174, n.14. Again, by 
proving that the defendants made profits from sales of products incorporating 
trade secrets misappropriated from the plaintiff, the plaintiff has thereby also 
proved damages in the form of sales that the plaintiff would have made but for 
the misappropriation. 

Burien Toyota's discussion of federal copyright law is of no relevance to 
the issue raised in this appeal, which is governed by Washington trade secret law. 
This Court need not engage in any analysis by analogy to federal copyright law. 
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in the instruction, under either the abuse of discretion standard or de novo 

review. 

3. There is No Error in Instruction No. 18 

Burien Toyota argues that Instruction No. 18, the damages 

instruction, is error for the same reason it claims Instruction No. 8 is 

error. 7 Burien Toyota is incorrect; Instruction No. 18 read in conjunction 

with Instruction No. 8 does not improperly shift the burden of proof. 

Instruction No. 8 plainly refers to Burien Toyota's "initial burden." 

Instruction No. 18, by contrast, instructs the jury as to what it must do if it 

finds for Burien Toyota on its claim and instructs the jury as to Burien 

Toyota's ultimate burden as to damages. 

Further, Instruction No. 18 is a correct statement of the law: a 

plaintiff in a tort action has the ultimate burden of proof as to damages 

proximately caused by injury caused by the defendant; a plaintiff in a 

misappropriation of trade secrets action may recover either actual damages 

(lost profits) or restitution for unjust enrichment (defendant's gain), but 

may not recover twice for the same damages. See Olympia Oyster Co. v. 

Rayonier, Inc., 229 F. Supp. 855, 861 (W.D. Wash. (1964) ("every 

plaintiff claiming damages has the burden of proof to present sufficient 

7 Respondents objected to Instruction No. 18, but not for the reasons 
Burien Toyota objected attrial and argues on appeal. See RP Jan. 31,2013 at 15. 
Respondents have not assigned error to the giving of Instruction No. 18. 
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evidence from which damages can be determined on some rational basis") 

(applying Washington law); RCW 19.108.030; WPIC 351.01 cmt. There 

is no error in the court's Instruction No. 18.8 

B. Even if the Instructions Were Erroneous, Any Error Would Be 
Harmless Because Burien Toyota Failed to Prove Damages 

As discussed above, there is no error in either Instruction No.8 or 

Instruction No. 18 or in the two instructions read together. Even if, 

however, an error exists, any error is harmless. The instructional errors 

Burien Toyota alleges relate to its burden of proof as to damages. Because 

Burien Toyota failed to prove damages, even if there were error in the 

instructions, the error would be harmless and, therefore, not grounds for 

reversal. Ezell v. Hutson, 105 Wn. App. 485, 492, 20 P.3d 975 (2001); see 

also RWR Management, Inc. v. Citizens Realty Co., 133 Wn. App. 265, 

278, 135 P.3d 955 (2006) (reversal is not required where ajury instruction 

is erroneous but does not substantially affect the outcome of the case). 

Damages must be proved with reasonable certainty. Larsen v. 

Walton Plywood Co., 65 Wn.2d 1, 16,390 P.2d 677 (1964). Damages 

cannot be left to conjecture, guess, or speculation. Gilmartin v. Stevens 

Inv. Co., 43 Wn.2d 289,302,261 P.2d 73 (1953); see also Holt v. School 

8 Burien Toyota's proposed instruction is substantially identical to the 
instruction the court gave and contains the same language Burien Toyota cites as 
objectionable. Compare CP 565 and CP 772. Accordingly, even if there was 
any error, which there was not, such error was invited by Burien Toyota. 
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Dist. No. 71 of King County, 102 Wash. 442, 450, 173 P. 335 (1918) ("it 

would be error for the court to allow the jury to award damages for matters 

purely speculative"). "[D]amages will not be allowed for loss of expected 

profits unless the loss be shown with reasonable certainty and a reasonable 

degree of accuracy, and ... the testimony establishing the loss must be 

free of speculation and conjecture." Sposari v. Matt Malaspina & Co., 63 

Wn.2d 679, 688, 388 P.2d 970 (1964). A claim for lost profits is properly 

denied '''when the alleged loss cannot be proved adequately and remains 

speculative. '" Golf Landscaping, Inc. v. Century Const. Co., A Div. of 

Grvco, Inc., 39 Wn. App. 895, 903, 696 P.2d 590 (1984) (quoting United 

States of America for the Use and Benefit of A. V DeBlasio Constr., Inc. v. 

Mountain States Constr. Co., 588 F.2d 259,263 (9th Cir. 1978) (applying 

Washington law)). 

As discussed above, after initially refusing to provide any evidence 

in support of its allegation of damages, the "evidence" Burien Toyota 

eventually produced to support its damages claim consisted of a baseless 

allegation - with no supporting evidence - that its damages were "no less 

than $3,000 per sale by Butler to Burien Toyota's customers," CP 384, 

and an allegation that it compared Robert Larson's list of sales at its entire 

universe of dealerships since Mr. Butler began working at Larson Toyota 

with Burien Toyota's entire database of contacts (without any limitation as 
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to time period) and found 207 "hits" with persons in Burien Toyota's 

database. This allegation, too, was unsupported by any evidence, as 

Burien Toyota never produced---either to Robert Larson or to the jury-its 

alleged database it claims to have used in its alleged comparison. CP 849. 

Nor did Burien Toyota ever produce any evidence that any of these 207 

individuals ever actually purchased even a single car from Burien Toyota. 

Nor did Burien Toyota ever verify that any of the alleged 207 hits are the 

same individuals in Burien Toyota's database that are in Robert Larson's. 

Importantly, Burien Toyota failed to produce any evidence supporting the 

final and necessary leap that any of the claimed 207 hits in Robert 

Larson's database is related in any way to Mr. Butler's taking his 

customer list with him to Larson Toyota. CP 850. 

At trial, the only potential evidence Burien Toyota produced as to 

its alleged damages on its UTSA claim was (1) testimony that Burien 

Toyota made more money in 2011 than it did in 2012, after Mr. Butler left 

his employment with the dealership, and (2) evidence that some customers 

whose names appeared in Burien Toyota's database (because they were 

identified as "Internet leads" by certain websites, because they had 

maintenance performed on their vehicle at Burien Toyota, or because of 

any number of other reasons not necessarily related to their actual 

purchase of a vehicle at Burien Toyota) bought cars from someone - not 
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necessarily Mr. Butler - at Larson Toyota. None of this evidence bears 

any connection to Mr. Butler, nor does it support Burien Toyota's 

allegation of damages in its UTSA claim. It is not surprising that the jury 

returned a verdict finding that Burien Toyota has suffered no damages. 

Here, the evidence Burien Toyota offered to support its claims of 

damages, described above, did not prove that it suffered any damage as a 

result ofMr. Butler's use of his Sobel list while working at Larson Toyota. 

Burien Toyota provided no evidence of even a single sale at Larson 

Toyota that occurred as a result of Mr. Butler's use of his list. In order to 

award Burien Toyota any damages on its UTSA claim, the jury would 

have had to engage in speculation and conjecture. Correctly following the 

trial court's instruction that any damage award "must be based upon 

evidence and not upon speculation, guesswork or conjecture," CP 565, the 

jury rightly returned a verdict finding that Burien Toyota suffered no 

damage. Because Burien Toyota failed to meet its burden of proving 

damages, any error in any instruction relating to damages is harmless and 

not grounds for reversal. Further, because Burien Toyota cannot show 

misappropriation of a trade secret, or, as shown above, damages, remand 

of this matter for retrial would be futile, as Respondents would be entitled 

on remand to judgment as a matter of law. This Court can, however, 

remand and direct the trial court to enter judgment for Respondents. See 
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Estate of Spahi v. Hughes-NW, Inc., 107 Wn. App. 763, 776-77, 27 P.3d 

1233 (2001). 

c. Burien Toyota Is Not Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees 
"Pending Remand" 

Burien Toyota improperly asks this Court to award it attorney fees

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